Police and Crime Panel

Date

Friday 4 November 2022

Time

10.00 am

Venue

Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business
Part A
[Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s
agreement]
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Substitute Members

3.

Minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2022 (Pages 3 - 10)

4.

Declarations of interest, if any

5.

Police and Crime Commissioner's Performance and Delivery Update
Report (April 22 to September 22) - Report of the Police and Crime
Commissioner (Pages 11 - 48)

6.

Report on Investigative Hub - Report of Durham Police and Crime
Commissioner (Pages 49 - 66)

7.

Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting,
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

Helen Lynch
Monitoring Officer

County Hall
Durham
27 October 2022

To:

The Members of the Police and Crime Panel

Durham County Council
Councillors D Boyes, L Hovvels, D Nicholls, J Nicholson (Vice-Chair), R Potts,
A Savory and M Simmons
Darlington Borough Council
Councillors B Jones (Chair), L McCollom and M Renton
Independent Co-opted Members
Mr N Hallam and Mr R Rodiss

Contact: Martin Tindle

Tel: 03000 269 713

Agenda Item 3

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Police and Crime Panel held in Committee Room 2, County
Hall, Durham on Friday 9 September 2022 at 10.00 am

Present:
Councillor B Jones (Chair)
Durham County Council:
Councillors D Nicholls, J Nicholson (Vice-Chair),
(substitute for L Hovvels)

M Simmons and J Miller

Darlington Borough Council:
Councillors L McCollom and M Renton
Independent Co-opted Members:
Mr N Hallam
The Chair noted the death of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II and, as a mark of
respect, led the Committee in a minute’s silence.
1

Apologies for Absence
There were apologies for absence received from Councillors L Hovvels, R
Potts and A Savory and Mr R Rodiss.
The Chair explained that Councillor R Potts had contacted him to note that
he had felt the meeting should have been cancelled as a mark of respect for
The Queen. The Chair noted Councillor R Potts had suggested that, if the
meeting was to go ahead, Item 7 - IICSA report be deferred to a future
meeting. The Panel agreed that Item 7 be deferred to a future meeting.

2

Substitute Members
Councillor J Miller substituted for Councillor L Hovvels.

3

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

Page 3

4

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2022 were agreed as a correct
record and signed by the Chair.
In relation to matters arising, the Chief Finance Officer, Office of the Police
and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) explained that responses to questions
raised by Councillors R Potts, L Hovvels and D Boyes in relation to: Joint
Independent Audit Committee appointments and costs; anti-social behaviour;
and selective licensing had been provided to those Members. The Chair
noted it would be useful if the responses could also be shared with the Panel
membership.

5

PCC Annual Report 2021/22 - Draft
The Panel considered the report of the Police and Crime Commissioner
which included her draft PCC Annual Report 2021-22 (for copy see file of
Minutes). The PCC referred to the draft document and key events and
highlights from 2021/22 and progress against the Police and Crime Plan
2021-24.
The Chair congratulated the PCC on the Peer Mentors and the custody and
investigations hub at Durham Gate.
Councillor M Renton asked as regards the decrease in anti-social behaviour,
which he noted seemed to be counter to what residents were saying to him.
He asked whether it was a reduction in incidents or a reduction in reporting.
The PCC noted that if an incident was not reported, resources could not be
allocated accordingly, and emphasised that it was vitally important to report
incidents. She noted that there had been improvements in signposting,
especially with Durham County Council, Darlington Borough Council and the
OPCC. She noted that if 37 percent of incidents were not reported then she
would want the number to increase as she would want to know. She added
that when looking against figures from during the pandemic they were not a
true comparison, and that was reflected within the report. She added that it
was important that people felt confident in reporting and noted the work
relating to the 101 number and online chat facility. The Chief Finance Officer
asked Members to recall at the February meeting, when looking at the
precept, there had been reference to 10 new call handlers and new IT
equipment referred to, with some new call handlers having started today. He
added that there was training in the new IT system and noted that
performance would be monitored at the Force level.

Page 4

The Chair noted the visit to the Durham Headquarters and Control Room and
the time it took to train staff as well as the high turnover. The Chief Finance
Officer noted the 12 week training process and added that the Force could
not restrict the careers of those that had wished to become Police Officers.
Councillor D Nicholls thanked the PCC and noted the level of ambition within
the Annual Report, as well the proactive work and outside of the box thinking.
He noted within the report that the Force had been found to be very good in
use of resources and noted the use of technology, an example being the
ability for shops to send information and CCTV footage to the Police. He
noted the importance of the work to tackle violence against women and girls
and welcomed the additional PCSOs. He asked if there had been any
change in the number of Detectives within the Force. The Chief Finance
Officer that nationally there was shortage of Detectives and noted that the
Force had around 15 Detectives retire each year. He reminded the Panel
that the path to becoming a Detective was quite difficult, with a national exam
to pass, a five week CID course, and a 12 month portfolio of work to be
completed, approximately an 18 month period from initial training to
becoming a Detective. He noted there were 12 new Detectives at Durham
and there would be further appointments in future. Councillor D Nicholls
noted the workload in terms of additional information that was required by the
CPS and asked as regards civilian staff to decrease workload for Officers.
The Chief Finance Officer noted that there were national guidelines in terms
of staff redacting statements. The PCC noted the OPCC worked and met
with individual businesses, offering support, including through the Victims’
Champion. She added that the use of SentrySIS to receive CCTV footage
was beneficial and noted it was important to listen to local and small
businesses, especially in the context of the cost of living crisis and the
possibility of shoplifting and theft crimes increasing.
Councillor J Miller noted that all Members would agree that the number of
anti-social behaviour incidents was greater than the number of complaints
received, and he agreed that reporting was key in allowing partners to
address the issues. He congratulated the successful use of Section 59
Notices to seize vehicles and the use of drones. He noted the setup time
required in terms of the large drone and explained that Believe Housing had
given consent to launch the drone from their property. He noted the
SentrySIS CCTV system and asked if Members could be trained in terms of
how it works in order to assist businesses in their communities. The Chief
Finance Officer noted that it was a bespoke system and not all shops signed
up, and not all had CCTV of sufficient quality. Councillor J Miller noted that
he felt Members would benefit from further information, the Chief Finance
Officer noted a presentation could be provided for the Panel. The PCC noted
the issue of the quality of CCTV and use of body cams by some staff in Coop
stores. She noted the recent investment in CCTV at Darlington and the
impressive work with their Neighbourhood Team.

Page 5

She noted that issues with Durham CCTV had been raised with the Chief
Executive and that she would look forward to any work in that regard,
including any opportunities with the UK Shared Prosperity Fund in terms of
improving CCTV. The PCC noted the success of Operation Snap, noting
that not only did motorists capture incidents of dangerous driving, but also of
other types of crime and incidents, including missing persons. The Chair
noted the success of the Darlington CCTV, with direct radio contact to Police.
Councillor J Miller noted the impact in terms of theft at his local Coop, with
the company having a policy of not reporting and added that therefore issues
where CCTV could help were not limited to city centres, such as Durham and
Darlington, but could also help in rural areas. The PCC noted there was a
public accountability meeting scheduled for later in the month looking at
Safer Business Crime. She added she would ask Members to encourage
shops in their area to sign up to SentrySIS and noted she had met with the
Deputy Manager of the Coop in question as regards a specific incident and
reiterated that the Police needed to know as regards incidents in order to
address issues. She added that while there had been a lot of success in
promoting campaigns and programmes via social media, it was important to
get messages out into communities for those that were not on social media
platforms.
Resolved:
That the Draft Annual Report be noted.
6

Police and Crime Panel Revised Work Programme 2022/23
The Panel considered report of the Monitoring Officer and Clerk to the Police
and Crime Panel which set out a revised Work Programme for 2022/23 for
the Panel (for copy see file of Minutes).
The Governance Solicitor explained the draft work programme had been
drafted in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair and was set out for the
Panel’s consideration.
The Chair reiterated that a recent visit to the Darlington CCTV Control Room
had been very enlightening and suggested the Panel may also wish to visit,
to coincide with the special meeting scheduled to be held at Darlington.
Councillor M Renton, Portfolio Holder for Safer Communities at Darlington
Brough Council noted he would speak to the relevant Officers in respect of a
visit.

Page 6

Resolved:
(a) That the revised work programme for 2022/23, as set out at Appendix 2
be agreed.
(b) That a visit for the Panel to the CCTV control room at Darlington be
arranged.
(c) That the Panel receive further updates to the work programme as
appropriate.
7

IICSA Report
The item was deferred.

8

Media Report
The Panel considered a report of the Office of the Police and Crime
Commissioner which provided an update on press and social media
coverage concerning the work of the Police and Crime Commissioner since
the previous meeting (for copy of report see file of Minutes).
Councillor D Nicholls appreciated the update and information in terms of
engaging with the public. Councillor L McCollum noted a great deal of work
had been undertaken and asked as regards context and performance. The
PCC noted tracking could be included in the performance report going
forward.
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

9

PCC Commissioning Update
The Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner which
provided an update on the decisions taken at the Commissioning Board in
June and July 2022 (for copy see file of Minutes).
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 7

10

PCC Decision Records
The Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner which
provided an update on the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Decision
Register for 2022 and addressed the forward plan (for copy see file of
Minutes).
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

11

HMICFRS Inspections
The Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner which
outlined the findings of the recent inspections conducted by Her Majesty’s
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) that
have required a Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) comment as follows:



Twenty years on, is MAPPA achieving its objectives?
PEEL Spotlight - The police response to burglary, robbery, and other
acquisitive crime - Finding time for crime
Councillors D Nicholls and J Nicholson left the meeting at 10.49am

The PCC noted a recent radio programme, which had included the West
Yorkshire Chief Constable, and the highlighted reduced reoffending through
the use of the Checkpoint programme. Councillor J Miller noted ‘good’ rating
for Durham and positive comments, however, asked if any areas for
improvement had been highlighted. The Accountability and Scrutiny Officer
noted that there had been assurance from the HMICFRS and the OPCC
were looking at specific recommendations now, working with the Force. The
Chief Finance Officer noted that further information would come back to the
Panel. The PCC noted that the Force would not only look at any
recommendations they may have received, but also those received by other
Forces in order to look at good practice. She added a league table could be
circulated for information.
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 8

12

Complaints Update
The Panel considered a report of the Monitoring Officer and Clerk to the
Police and Crime Panel which provided an update on complaints relating to
the Police and Crime Commissioner or the Deputy Police and Crime
Commissioner (for copy see file of Minutes). It was noted that between 15
June 2022 and 1 September 2022 there had been no formal complaints
received. It was explained correspondence had been received on 28 June
2022, however, the matter was considered to relate to operational matters
and did not relate to the PCC. The complaint was forwarded to the Office of
the PCC to action and the Chair and Vice-Chair had been advised.
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Police and Crime Panel
4th November 2022
Police and Crime Commissioner’s Performance and Delivery Update Report (April 22 to
September 22)
Report of the Police and Crime Commissioner

Purpose
1.

For Panel Members to consider the first iteration of the Police and Crime
Commissioner’s (PCC) Performance and Delivery Report.

Background
2.

In agreement with the Chair of the Panel, future OPCC reports will be consolidated
into one Performance and Delivery Report and will be presented every quarter to the
Police and Crime Panel.

3.

This report covers the period Quarter 1 (Q1- Apr22 - Jun22) and Quarter 2 (Q2- Jul22
– Sep22) of 2022/ 23. All narratives are directed towards this period and/ or provide
a current strategic overview and practical examples which form the fabric of Durham
Constabulary’s performance picture.

4.

This report includes an update on the Police and Crime Plan Key Performance-Safer
Communities, Safer People, Non-Crime Demand, Safer Roads, Partnership and
Collaboration, Services for Victims and Grant Funding, Measuring progress against the
Public’s Police and Crime Priorities, HMICFRS and Decision Records.

5.

Appendix 1 of this report contains the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Performance
and Delivery Report. (April 22 to September 22).

6.

The final version of this Performance and Delivery Report will be primarily available as
an electronic document and printed copies will be made available upon request.

Recommendation
Page 1 of 3
Page 11

7.

That Panel Members consider the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Performance and
Delivery Report and comment accordingly.

Sweety Sahani
Head of Private Office/Deputy Monitoring Officer

Appendix 1: Risks and Implications
Finance
All decisions with financial implications are made with value for money as a key
consideration and are affordable within budgets.
Staffing
n/a
Equality and Diversity
n/a
Accommodation
n/a
Crime and Disorder
n/a
Children’s Act 2004
n/a
Stakeholder/Community Engagement
Consultation with key stakeholders is carried out as appropriate to each decision.
Environment
n/a
Collaboration and Partnerships
Consultation with key partners is carried out as appropriate to each decision.

Value for Money and Productivity
n/a
Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
Decisions will impact directly or indirectly on the pursuit of Police and Crime Plan priorities.
Page 2 of 3
Page 12

Commissioning
Several decisions relate to commissioning of services.
Other risks
n/a
Contact Officer:
Job Title:
Telephone:
Email:

Sweety Sahani
Head of Private Office/Deputy Monitoring Officer
0191 3752001
Sweety.sahani@durham.pcc.gov.uk

Page 3 of 3
Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s

PERFORMANCE
REPORT Q1 & Q2 22/23
OCT 2022

Making the communities of County Durham and Darlington safer, stronger and more resilient to crime, drugs and anti-social
behaviour
Page
15
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

2

Page 16
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

CONTENTS
FOREWORD................................................................................................................................................ 4
ACCOUNTABILITY: KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT......................... 5
SAFER COMMUNITIES.......................................................................................................................6
Force Staffing Levels......................................................................................................................6
Public Contact Methods...............................................................................................................8
Neighbourhood Crime................................................................................................................10
Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB).................................................................................................... 12
SAFER PEOPLE......................................................................................................................................14
Violent Crime......................................................................................................................................14
NON-CRIME DEMAND.....................................................................................................................16
Missing from Home (MFH)........................................................................................................16
Mental Health.....................................................................................................................................17
SAFER ROADS.........................................................................................................................................18
Casualties (Fatal, Serious, Slight).........................................................................................18
PARTNERSHIP AND COLLABORATION REPORT........................................................ 20
Community Peer Mentors (CPMs)...................................................................................... 20
Victim Care and Advice Service (VCAS).........................................................................22
SERVICES FOR VICTIMS AND GRANT FUNDING REPORT................................. 26
Ministry of Justice Funding..................................................................................................... 26
Safer Streets....................................................................................................................................... 28
HIS MAJESTY’S INSPECTORATE OF THE CONSTABULARY & FIRE AND
RESUCE SERVICE (HMICFRS) REPORT.............................................................................. 30
DECISION RECORDS REPORT....................................................................................................32

Page 17
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

3

FORWARD

4

Page 18
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

T

his is my first performance report 2022/23 which provides the Police and Crime Panel with
an update on the progress being made against my Police and Crime Plan priorities.

One of the biggest responsibilities of any Police and Crime Commissioner is to listen to the
public. This important strand of my work began as soon as I was elected and has continued
throughout my first year to ensure the decisions I make and the funding I invest is in the best
interests of local people.
In my conversations and meetings with residents, I have come to understand the huge impact
issues such as anti-social behaviour and road safety have on people’s lives. These issues are
now the foundation of my Police and Crime Plan, and I will continue to hold the Chief Constable
to account for the successful delivery of any improvements.
While there is always more to do, this performance report acknowledges the huge
achievements already being made by the force as well as its enviable position nationally.
Durham Constabulary is now recognised for attaining some of the highest resolved rates in the
UK for Neighbourhood Crime which includes vehicle-related theft, domestic burglary, theft
from the person and robbery of personal property – crimes which cause considerable concern
among residents. These offences have reduced by 23.5 per cent in the reporting period.
Furthermore, the Chief Inspector for Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire &
Rescue Service (HMICFRS) publicly highlighted the force for its exceptional performance in
the way it responds to these acquisitive crimes in his most recent inspection and identified the
force as a pillar of national good practice in its problem-solving approaches.
Meanwhile, proactive work and investment to tackle anti-social behaviour continues to have a
positive impact with recent figures continuing to decrease, reflecting a long-term trend. Earlier
this year, I delivered on my promise to appoint an Anti-Social Behaviour Champion as part of a
tougher approach to persistent anti-social behaviour and I am closely involved in developing
new processes to step-up the response to persistent problems.
There are many more successes and I am proud of the work ethic of all our officers, police
staff and volunteers and for their commitment in bringing these improvements to fruition. I will
continue to work hard to ensure they are supported and well-resourced to keep on making a
difference.

Joy Allen
Durham Police and
Crime Commissioner

ACCOUNTABILITY: KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT
This report covers the period Quarter 1 (Q1- Apr22 - Jun22) and Quarter 2 (Q2- Jul22 – Sep22)
of 2022/ 23. All narratives are directed towards this period and/ or provide a current strategic
overview and practice examples.
Page 19
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

5

SAFER COMMUNITIES

6

FORCE STAFFING LEVELS
Staff Type

2010
(31/03/2010)

2019
(31/03/2019)

Q1 End
(3o/06/2022)

Q2 End
(3o/09/2022)

Police Offices

1507

1138

1273

1297

Police Staff

920

774

1000

982

PCSOs

175

145

132

138

Direction of
Travel
(From 2010)

The reduction in officers and staff between 2010/2020 was a direct result of austerity. The
Force lost 408 officers between 2010 and 2020, 27% of Police Officer strength.
I am delighted to report that PCSO numbers per head of population are still approximately 50%
above the national average, which reflects my commitment to visible neighborhood policing.
In July more than 60 extra police officers hit the streets of County Durham and Darlington
determined to protect the public, deter crime and anti-social behaviour.
Durham Constabulary also introduced a new shift pattern to bolster the number of frontline
officers available to deal with incidents and deter crime into the late evening and throughout
the
night in communities across the force area.
Page 20
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

The increase in overall numbers, has been made possible through the national uplift in
recruitment programme. This increase also includes more Sergeants and Inspectors to
oversee the response to calls for service from the public.
This new way of working has allowed officers to react more effectively to those high harm
crimes which peak during the late evening and into the night such as domestic violence and
abuse, alcohol-related violence and public order issues or priority incidents such as missing
persons which also tend to increase during the hours of darkness.
Combined, the new officers and the new shift system has improved our capacity to deter
and prevent crime, tackle anti-social behaviour and help us protect the public across County
Durham and Darlington.
The public repeatedly tell me that they want to see more officers on the streets, particularly at
times of peak demand such as the night-time economy. This change in shift pattern, coupled
with the additional officers, will have a marked effect on police visibility, and will help reduce
crime and anti-social behaviour.

7

Page 21
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

PUBLIC CONTACT METHODS
Often the person answering the call is the first contact people have with the police and it is so
important that the call is answered swiftly and professionally.
The public asked for call handling to be made a priority and I pledged to support that agenda.
I know that the voice on the end of the phone can provide vital support in times of great stress
and has a big impact on the callers’ overall trust and confidence in policing.
I have agreed substantial investment to recruit additional call handlers to ease pressure on
calls for assistance and this will continue to be an area I will closely scrutinise.
So, I am delighted to report that in May our call handling team was boosted by further nine
members of staff.
The table below displays the overarching Key Performance Indicators used for
999 and 101 call data:

8

Q1 - Q2
19/20
basline

Quarter 1
2022/23

Quarter 2
2022/23

Q1 - Q2
22/20
Total

%Change
basline
to 22/23

999 Calls

48634

27852

28192

56044

15.20%

101 (SNEN) Calls

156354

68585

66988

135573

-13.30%

Totals

204988

96437

95180

191617

-6.50%

CALL DATA

Direction of
Travel
(From 2010)

The table below displays the rate at which 999/ 101 calls are answered and abandoned:

Public Access to
Services

Q1 - Q2
19/20
basline

Quarter 1
2022/23

Number of 999
calls answered
within 10 seconds

19704

23797

Average call wait
time for 999 calls
(seconds)

25.4

20.3

17005

11623

101 calls
abandoned

Direction of
Travel
(From 2010)

Page 22
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

9

Over the reporting period, 999 calls answered within 10 seconds increased and the number of
101 calls abandoned decreased. The average answer time to a 999 call during Q1 2022-23 was
25.4 seconds, reducing to 20.3 seconds during Q2.
999 Calls have seen an increase in the second quarter of 2022/23 compared to the first
quarter (27852 to 28192) with August having the highest number of calls with 10203. However,
comparing Q1-Q2 22/23 baseline to the same period in 19/20 (pre-covid) there has been a 15%
increase in 999 calls received.
101 Calls have seen a decrease in the second quarter of 2022/23 compared to the first quarter
(68585 to 66988) with September having the lowest number of calls with 20445. However,
comparing Q1-Q2 22/23 baseline to 19/20 baseline there has been a 13.3% decrease in 101
calls received.
In addition to 101 and 999, the force has a non-emergency live chat function which is
monitored by staff between the hours of 9:00- 18:00 7 days a week. Although, it is important to
note that this function still requires an internal resource to manage in real-time in case reports
require immediate or priority response.

Page 23
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

NEIGHBOURHOOD CRIME

Neighbourhood crime is composed of the following crime types (police recorded crime):
•

Robbery - Personal

•

Residential Burglary (incorporates all related Home Office sub-categories)

•

Theft from the Person

•

Vehicle crime (incorporates all four Home Office sub-categories)

The table provides a quarter-on-quarter breakdown, including a comparison with the
equivalent baseline pre-pandemic period:
Neighbourhood
Crime

Q1-Q2
19-20
baseline

Quarter 1
2022/23

Quarter 2
2022/23

Recorded Crime

3041

1122

1205

% change Direction of
Q1-Q2
baseline to travel (from
22-23 total
2022/23
baseline)

2327

-23.50%

The overall category of Neighbourhood crime has seen a decrease of 23.5% in the current
quarters when compared with the baseline (pre-Covid in 2019/20) period, a decrease which is
reflected across all sub-categories.

10

Neighbourhood
Crime

Q1-Q2
19-20
baseline

Quarter 1
2022/23

Quarter 2
2022/23

Resolved Rates

11.9%

18.5%

13.2%

Page 24
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

% change Direction of
Q1-Q2
baseline to travel (from
22-23 total
2022/23
baseline)

15.9%

4.0%

Durham bucked the national trend with top response
to burglary, robbery and theft
I am pleased to report Durham Constabulary received national recognition by police
watchdogs for the way it investigates burglary, robbery, and theft.

11

The force has the highest resolution rate in England and Wales for the investigation of robbery,
commercial burglary and theft from a motor vehicle and exceeds the national average in all
but one of the 22 crime types.
The performance has led to the force receiving high praise in a recent report by Her Majesty’s
Chief Inspector of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) Andy Cooke, who
highlighted Durham as one of just two forces nationally that are performing “very well” in its
response to serious acquisitive crimes including burglary, robbery, and theft.
I was delighted with the findings of Mr Cooke’s report and his extremely positive assessment of
Durham Constabulary’s response to burglary, robbery, and theft.
Every crime has a victim, and it is critical police forces take account of the emotional impact of
crime and maximise every opportunity to deliver justice. I was pleased Durham Constabulary
was singled out for good practice in this respect and continues to work hard and innovatively
to increase public confidence in investigation processes and achieve results.
It is vital to me as Police and Crime Commissioner that the policing services we provide meet
the needs and expectations of local people. Victims of crime are at the heart of everything I do,
and I listen very carefully to the experiences of past victims to ensure we get it right.
We take great pride in being a nationally leading force and will continue to identify further any
areas of improvement to protect people and resolve the issues that matter to them most. Our
resolution rate for neighbourhood crime is the highest in the country and I am determined for
that to continue.
Page 25
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR (ASB)

12

Page 26
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

Whilst ASB incidents have seen the most fluctuation over the pandemic period, the overall
downward trend continues.
ASB across the first two quarters in 2022-23 is shown in the table below, along with a
comparison with an equivalent pre-pandemic baseline period:

ASB Incidents
ASB Total

Q1-Q2
19-20
baseline
9610

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Q1-Q2 222022/23 2022/23
23 total
4856

4354

9210

% change
baseline
to 22-23

Direction
of travel
(from
baseline)

-4%

ASB levels have seen a decrease of 4% in the current quarters when compared with the
baseline (pre-Covid in 2019/20) period.
I am determined to take a hard-line approach to antisocial behaviour and boost support for
victims and I have accelerated my plans to prioritise the issue and ensure all victims receive a
robust response to their problems.
I am the only PCC in the country to have created and recruited the role of an Anti-social
Behaviour Champion to give local victims of ASB a bigger voice in the criminal justice system
and to spearhead multiagency action to address persistent problems and making it easier for
victims to seek redress through the Community Trigger scheme.
In the past, victims of ASB have felt let down and unsupported, so I am proud of our early
success in recruiting the first-ever Antisocial Behaviour Champion in England and Wales and
will continue to lead the way when it comes to standing up for victims and securing redress for
victims.
It is unacceptable that the actions of a minority should be allowed to bring such intense and
inescapable misery to some residents, and I will continue to do everything in my power to
support our officers and unleash the full extent of legislation and enforcement powers as part
of our response.
Page 27

Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

13

SAFER PEOPLE
VIOLENT CRIME
Protecting women and girls from violence is a key area of focus and we have been at the
forefront of national efforts to deliver greater justice for sexual violence victims through
Project Soteria. Durham Constabulary already has one of the highest charging rates for rape
investigations in England and Wales and is playing a critical role in developing future reform.
Violence Against the Person (VAP) is composed of three Home Office crime categories:

14

•

Homicide

•

Violence with Injury

•

Violence without Injury

The table provides a quarter-on-quarter breakdown, including a comparison with the
equivalent baseline pre-pandemic period:

Q1-Q2
19-20
baseline

Quarter 1
2022/23

Quarter 2
2022/23

Q1-Q2
22-23 total

Violence with Injury

3037

1429

1555

2987

-2%

Violence without Injury

10342

4340

4867

9207

-11%

Homicide

3

1

1

2

-33%

VAP total

13382

5770

6432

12193

-9%

Violence Against the
Person (VAP)

% change Direction of
baseline to travel (from
2022-23
baseline)

The overall category of VAP has seen a decrease of 9% in the current quarters when compared
with the baseline (pre-Covid in 2019/20) period, a decrease which is reflected across all subcategories.
Alcohol continues to be a driving factor in VAP and alcohol.

Page 28
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

15

Page 29
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

NON-CRIME DEMAND
MISSING FROM HOME (MFH)

16

Reports of a missing adult/ child are logged by the force with details of the missing person
recorded as part of the incident log.
The following table shows a quarter-on-quarter analysis of ‘missing person’ incident data:

Missing from
Home (MFH)

Missing Person
Incidents

Q1-Q2
19-20
baseline

Quarter 1
2022/23

Quarter 2
2022/23

Q1-Q2
22-23 total

% change
baseline
to 22-23

2242

1530

1503

3033

35%

Direction
of travel
(from baseline)

Overall, MFH levels have seen an increase of 35% in the current quarters when compared with
the baseline (pre-Covid in 2019/20) period.
Children missing from home account for the largest number of missing from home reports.
Page 30
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

MENTAL HEALTH
The table below breaks this data down to show quarter-on-quarter variation, along with a
comparison to an equivalent pre-pandemic baseline period:
Incidents with ‘mental
health” qualifier

Incident count

Q1-Q2
19-20
baseline

Quarter 1
2022/23

Quarter 2
2022/23

Q1-Q2
22-23 total

% change
baseline
to 22-23

9580

4308

4439

8747

8.75%

Direction
of travel
(from baseline)

Mental Health incidents have seen a decrease of 8.7% in the current quarters when compared
with the baseline (pre-Covid in 2019/20) period. Additionally, Mental Health Incidents consisted
of 10.2% of all incidents in Q1 and Q2.
Mental health is a cross-cutting issue which affects over 5% of the entire population of England
(2019/ 20 NHS Annual Report), and the proportion is ever increasing which stretches demand
on services further. I am determined to build upon existing support structures across the
criminal justice partnership and within policing to further enhance the response to mental
health and provide the right services at the right times.

Page 31
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

17

SAFER ROADS

18

People continually contact me with concerns about speeding vehicles and safety for all road
users. It is a fact that too many people are killed or seriously injured on the roads. That is why I
have made Road safety a key priority in my Police and Crime Plan.

CASUALTIES (FATAL, SERIOUS, SLIGHT)

The table provides a breakdown of ‘all collisions’ data within the Durham Constabulary force
area, showing both quarterly analysis and a comparison with an equivalent pre-pandemic
baseline period:
Road - Casualties

Fatal

Q1-Q2 19-20
baseline

Quarter 1 Quarter 2
Q1-Q2
2022/23 2022/23 22-23 total

% change
baseline
to 22-23

9

6

4

10

11%

Serious

124

65

41

106

-15%

KSI (fatal + serious)

133

71

45

116

-13%

Slight

426

131

128

259

-39%

All Casualties Total

559

202

173

375

-33%

Direction
of travel
(from baseline)

I am pleased to report Fatal and serious casualties decreased over the reporting period by 13%.
When combining all casualty levels (fatal, serious, and slight) there was a decrease of 33%.
The force’s approach to road safety continues to centre around the ‘fatal 5’ and the wider
national/
local road safety campaigns and initiatives associated with this.
Page 32
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

19

Page 33
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

PARTNERSHIP & COLLABORATION REPORT
COMMUNITY PEER MENTORS (CPMS)
I relaunched an innovative mentorship scheme supporting victims of anti-social behaviour and
vulnerable people at risk
As part of an overhaul of victim services across County Durham and Darlington, I took overall
responsibility for the successful Community Peer Mentors project so I could expand support
for victims of crime and antisocial behaviour and those with identified vulnerabilities.
The service supports vulnerable and isolated people affected by significant life-changing
events including crime and antisocial behaviour and neighbourly disputes. Without help and
appropriate intervention, these individuals have the potential to become high-impact users of
frontline services.

20

More than 300 mentors with lived experiences have already been recruited to the scheme to
help inspire confidence and trust in the Police and the wider criminal justice system through
their engagement work.
Up until recently the scheme was funded exclusively by my office, whilst receiving referrals
from other service providers. I am delighted to report that NHS England has allocated funding
to enable us to support individuals with addictions to drugs or alcohol.
Between Q1 and Q2 2022/23 the CPMs experienced a 21% increase in referrals, an 88%
increase from this same period in 2021. This is a 371% increase from the same period prepandemic (2019/20).
The table below displays the source of referrals into the CPM scheme:

Q1 (April22 - Jun22)

Q2 (July22 - Sept 22)

Quarterly % Change

All Referrals

241

292

21%

Police

120

141

17.5%

MASH

45

70

55.5%

NHS

28

38

35.7%

VCAS

64

81

26.5%

Page 34
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

Since the introduction of the ‘Alcohol and Substance Misuse’ mentors there has been a 116%
increase in referrals for clients affected by both alcohol and substance misuse in this period.
There has also been a 71.9% increase where ASB has been identified as having a significant and
negative impact on clients.
The overall number of individuals referred into the CPMs during Q1 and Q2 2022/23 stands at
533.
Victims of crime are at the core of everything I do and I am determined to make it easier for
people to reach out for the help they need – at the earliest opportunity. It makes sense to offer
a single front door approach to support and I believe these changes will benefit the recovery
journey of all victims in the future.
The CPM scheme provides a service to individuals who come into contact with the police and
wider criminal justice system, with the aim of reducing demand on services with a targeted
approach to support, in terms of offending and vulnerability.
I was delighted to receive the Queens Award for Voluntary Service on behalf of the Community
Peer Mentors from the Lord Lieutenant on the morning of the 8th of September 2022.

Page 35
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

21

VICTIM CARE AND ADVICE SERVICE (VCAS)
New model of care to create ‘one stop shop’ for victims’ services
In April, I announced new plans to bring support services for victims of crime ‘in-house’ to
improve the care provided. After reviewing current provision, we identified the need for a
smoother referral process offering victims of crime a ‘single front door’ where they could
access recovery services swiftly and simply.
This new model provides me with better oversight of the system and enables me to foster
closer working relationships between partners and Durham Constabulary.
Victims of crime are at the centre of everything I do and I have made it clear I will spare no
effort in ensuring their needs are met. I recognise that one size does not fit all and this move
will build additional resilience to the team.
Safeguarding victims of crime is a top priority and I am working hard on my Police and Crime
Plan pledge to deliver a full range of high-quality specialist services to help victims recover
from the impact of crime. It is vital victims and witnesses continue to have trust and confidence
in the support we offer and remain engaged throughout their justice journey for long-term
recovery and to encourage future victims to come forward.

22

Page 36
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

23

The new model aims to:
•

Reduce the number of inappropriate referrals

•

Introduce processes that streamline the referral, triage and assessment system, creating
less confusion for victims and witnesses and reducing the number of inappropriate
referrals.

•

Develop more productive working relationships with police officers and other relevant
agencies

•

Improve response to victims of sexual offences and standard risk domestic abuse

•

Additional specialist support in the force control room ready to offer an immediate response
to calls in domestic abuse cases

•

Development of a specialist court team of advocates to support victims throughout their
journey for justice and to continually liaise between partner agencies including Police,
Crown Prosecution Service and National Probation Service to deliver maximum care.

•

Ensure support is available and accessible at any point in the victims or witness journey,
specifically at key ‘contact points’ such as when an offender is arrested or charged
Page 37
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

Figures show high victim confidence in post-crime support services

24

•

Results from the first three months showed free and confidential support provided by the
Victim Care and Advice Service (VCAS) is having a marked difference on the confidence
and mental health of those who have accessed help.

•

Between April and June this year, a total of 246 cases were closed after support was
provided.

•

Of these cases, 178 victims took up the offer of help to address their fears over safety and
were provided with dummy CCTV, door chimes, window and personal alarms, shed alarms
and security lights. Further support included crime prevention advice and site surveys,
coping strategies around checking CCTV and door locks and safety planning advice.

•

As a result of the interventions, 92 per cent of the victims reported feeling safer through the
VCAS support.

•

Additionally, 151 victims reported issues with health and wellbeing as a result of their
experience of crime, ranging from anxiety, depression and panic attacks as well as trouble
sleeping, and 159 victims reported concerns around lifestyle, reporting issues with housing,
finance and benefits and problems at university, work, school or college.

•

VCAS provided a range of positive interventions from coping strategies and distraction
techniques to support around self-harm and suicidal thoughts and referrals to other
specialist support agencies. The service also supported victims with their housing
applications and initiated contact with landlords, signposted to services such as Citizens
Advice and communicated with educational staff and victims’ employers to increase
understanding of the victim’s position.

•

As a result, 90 per cent of victims reported an improvement in their health and wellbeing
and 91 per cent of victims said there had been improvement in their lifestyle, often saying
they had been able to return to doing things they did prior to being victimised.

•

These results show very clearly how vital our support services have become in the recovery
journey. I am delighted that more than nine in 10 of those whose cases have recently
concluded are highly satisfied with the improvements in their lives they have experienced.
This is testament to the committed and compassionate professionals working on the
ground.

•

In the first three months of this financial year, more than 1,300 automatic referrals were
received by the service. I am impressed that both officers and partner services are
continuing to recognise vulnerability and ensuring that victims have instant access to the
help and support they need at the earliest opportunity.

•

Protecting victims of crime is a top priority and this feedback shows we are on the right
road. I am determined to build trust and confidence in the support services we provide so
we can continue to make a positive impact on people’s lives and encourage other victims
to come forward in future. I will continue to monitor performance and service provision to
make
Page
38 sure we maximise the variety and quality of help we offer.

Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

Between Q1 and Q2 2022/23 the VCAS experienced a 9.8% increase in referrals with 6060
referrals over the entire period. 87% (5304) of all those referred in to the VCAS were offered
support, from these 44% (2315) took up the offer of VCAS support.
The chart below demonstrates the proportion of support accepted, declined, and those out of
scope for support for VCAS in Q1 and Q2 2022/ 23:

VCAS Support
756
(13%)

25

2315 (38%)
2989 (49%)

Out of Scope

Declined Support

Accepted Support

Over the reporting period 428 cases were closed, the outcomes of which were focused
around improving feelings of safety by using target hardening equipment and providing crime
prevention advice, health and wellbeing which consisted of coping strategy advice and talking
changes therapy, and lifestyle which saw the VCAS liaise with local housing providers and
landlords on behalf of victims and help with paperwork.
Page 39
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

SERVICES FOR VICTIMS AND GRANT FUNDING REPORT
£150k funding scheme launched to support grassroots crime prevention
Charities and voluntary groups across County Durham and Darlington were offered a chance to
secure vital funding to support their work to boost community safety.
In partnership with County Durham Community Foundation (CDCF), we set aside £150,000 in
2022-23 to bolster local efforts to address crime, antisocial behaviour and vulnerability and
increase public confidence.
The Community Safety Fund 2022 enabled community and voluntary organisations to apply for
a grant of between £2,000 and £7,500 to support grassroots projects to help me make County
Durham and Darlington safer. I have funded projects and initiatives that tackle quality of life
issues that matter most to residents such as antisocial behaviour (ASB), drug use and drug
dealing, fly-tipping, speeding and vandalism.

26

New support service for victims of sexual violence
In April, I announced improved support for victims of sexual violence with the funding
of a new service.
I commissioned Darlington & County Durham Rape and Sexual Abuse Counselling Centre
(RSACC) to provide an Independent Sexual Violence Advisor (ISVA) service to survivors across
the force area. The service is available for victims and survivors who are considering making a
report to the Police or who have already reported their experience to the Police.
ISVAs are specially trained advocates who provide crucial support throughout the survivor’s
journey through the criminal justice process including reporting the incident to Police through
to supporting clients at court.
Among an extensive list of duties, ISVAs keep survivors informed of case developments, liaise
with the Police, Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) and other public agencies, assist with court
arrangements including special measures and witness service support and act as an advocate
on behalf of the survivor.
This new service will help me to achieve my goal of delivering seamless, high-quality support
for victims to help them recover from their experiences and to ensure victims feel empowered
and confident in reporting their experiences to the Police.
I am determined to provide the very best care and support to all victims of sexual violence
from the earliest opportunity. It’s vital that victims and survivors can access top quality support
throughout the criminal justice process.
Page 40
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

CCTV upgrade for Darlington
In July I agreed funding worth £250k over the next 10 years to support a state-of-the-art
upgrade to Darlington’s CCTV network Council’s CCTV system to improve quality and efficiency
and opportunities for prevention and detection
I am committed to improving the safety of local people and reducing their fear of crime by
investing in new technology that not only deters crime but improves the quality of evidence
police and partners are able to retrieve.
Thanks to successful bids to the Home Office’s Safer Streets Fund, I have already invested
more than £1million into safety improvements in the borough including the enhancement of
the existing CCTV scheme in the town centre with a £330k funding boost that has already
helped locate vulnerable missing people.
CCTV helps to reassure local people and reduce the fear of crime which is essential to
wellbeing. This investment over the next 10 years is part of a long-term to crack down on antisocial behaviour and crime and give local people the peace and quality of life they deserve.

Page 41
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

27

SAFER STREETS
£1.5m funding secured to make
County Durham and Darlington safer
I secured funding worth almost £1.5million to crackdown on anti-social behaviour and
neighbourhood crime - and boost women’s safety.
My office submitted four successful bids to the fourth round of the Home Office’s Safer Streets
Fund to invest in safety improvements and crime prevention programmes across County
Durham and Darlington over the next two years.
The funding, amounting to a total of £1,469,169.00 during 2022/23 and 2023/24, will be spent
on a mixture of practical interventions including free home security, CCTV cameras, upgraded
street lighting and additional policing resources and diversionary schemes that provide young
people with meaningful activities to alleviate boredom and develop their interests and skills to
prevent further problems.
Investment will concentrate on four key locations: Darlington East and North Road, Stanley and
Ferryhill, Peterlee, and lastly Durham City Centre and Darlington Town Centre.

28

In Durham City Centre and Darlington Town Centre, funding will be used to improve the safety
of women and girls, reducing the opportunity of violence and street harassment and increasing
women’s confidence when using public places.
This money will be invested in a number of exciting improvements to make our communities
stronger and more resilient to crime and anti-social behaviour. It will also help my team and
our partners address the root causes of nuisance behaviour and give young people alternative
outlets to channel their energy and attention, bringing longer-lasting solutions to our
communities.
The success of these bids is testament to the strong partnerships we have built with our local
authority colleagues, educational leads and youth offending/justice leads in these areas, who
were consulted and involved in every stage of the preparation process. The delivery of this
project will be very much a team effort and I am grateful for their support in both informing this
bid and for the valuable role they will play in bringing it to fruition.
This funding has been allocated to the following projects:
Project 1: Durham City and Darlington – Tackling Violence against Women and Girls in the
Night-Time Economy (Funding award £632,720).
Project 2: Peterlee – Tackling youth related Anti-Social Behaviour and Neighbourhood crime
(Funding award £447,660).
Project 3: Darlington – Tackling Youth related Anti- Social Behaviour (Funding Award £242,256).
Project 4: Ferryhill and Stanley – Tackling youth related Anti-Social Behaviour and
Neighbourhood crime (Funding award £146,533).
Page 42
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

29

Page 43
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

HIS MAJESTY’S INSPECTORATE
OF THE CONSTABULARY
& FIRE AND RESUCE SERVICE
(HMICFRS) REPORT
Over the reporting period there have been four inspections which Durham have had either
or both national and local recommendations PCC’s have been asked to respond to. These
inspections listed below have predominantly been covered in detail in previous update reports
to the Panel, and as such are not covered in detail in this document

30

RELEVANT REPORTS (APR 22 – SEP 22):
•

PEEL Spotlight - The police response to burglary, robbery, and other acquisitive crime Finding time for crime (August 2022)

•

Twenty years on, is MAPPA achieving its objectives? (July 2022)

•

Police perpetrated domestic abuse: Report on the Centre for Women’s Justice supercomplaint (June 2022)

•

Responses to the hidden victims: Report on Hestia’s super-complaint on the police
response to victims of modern slavery (April 2022)

Over the reporting period there have been four inspections which Durham have had either
or both national and local recommendations PCC’s have been asked to respond to. These
inspections listed below have predominantly been covered in detail in previous update reports
to Page
the Panel,
and as such are not covered in detail in this document
44
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

FORCE

Q2 Q1 Engaging
Q3 Providing a
with and
Q4 Q5 Preventing
Service to treating the
Responding Investigating
Crime &
Victims of Public with
to the Public
Crime
ASB
Crime
Fairness
and Respect

Durham                
Adequate
(Oct 21)
Gloucestershire
Inadequate
(Oct 21)

Good

Good

Good

Good

Outstanding

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Outstanding

N/A

Good

Good

Inadequate

Inadequate

Inadequate

Adequate

Good

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Inadequate

Inadequate

Good

Good

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Good

Not graded

Not graded

Adequate

Good

Good

Good

Adequate

Good

Good

Outstanding

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Outstanding

N/A

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement

Adequate

Not graded

Not graded

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

N/A

Inadequate

Inadequate

Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement

N/A

Not graded

Not graded

Inadequate

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

West Yorkshire
(Nov 21)

Adequate

Outstanding Outstanding

Northants           
(Nov 21)

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

West
Mercia           
(April 22)
Dorset                   
(April 22)
Bedfordshire       
(April 22)
Thames Valley
(April 22)

Adequate

Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement

Not graded

Adequate

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Adequate

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

N/A

Not graded

Adequate

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Adequate

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Adequate

N/A

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Outstanding

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

N/A

Good

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Adequate

Good

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Good

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate

Good

Good

Adequate

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Adequate

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Not graded

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate

Good

Good

Outstanding

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Adequate

N/A

Not graded

Good

Outstanding

Adequate

Adequate

Outstanding

Good

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

Outstanding

Requires
IMprovement

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

Outstanding

Not graded
Not graded

Nottinghamshire
Not graded
(April 2022)
Cumbria
(April 2022
Leicestershire
(April 2022)
Kent                    
(April 2022)
Cambridgeshire
(June 2022)
Surrey  
(June 2022)
Cheshire              
(July 22)

Q12 Q10 Q11 Q8 Strategic
Q9 - Meeting Protecting
Building,
Disrupting
Recording
planning,
the Strategic the Public
Supporting
Serious
organisational Data About
Policing
from
and
Organised
management Crime (CDI)
Protecting the
Requirement
Armed
Crime
and value for
Threats
Workforce
money

Good

Requires
Improvement

Not graded

Q7 Managing
Offenders
and
Suspects

Good

West Midlands
(Nov 21)

GMP                
(March 22)

Q6 Protecting
Vulnerable
People

Good

Not graded

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Not graded

Adequate

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Good

Adequate

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

Good

Not graded

Good

Outstanding

Adequate

Good

Good

Requires
IMprovement

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Adequate

Adequate

N/A

Good

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Adequate

Adequate

Inadequate

Requires
Improvement

Inadequate

Requires
Improvement

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Requires
Improvement

Inadequate

N/A

Not graded

Good

Wiltshire            
(July 22)

Not graded

South Wales     
(Aug 22)

Not graded

Adequate

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Adequate

Good

N/A

Dyfed Powys      
(Aug 22)

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Adequate

Good

Adequate

Adequate

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Adequate

Adequate

Suffolk                 
Requires
Improvement
(Aug 22)

Good

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate

Good

Good

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

N/A

Merseyside     
(Aug 22)

Adequate

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Outstanding

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

Good

Staffordshire    
(Sept 22)

Not graded

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Inadequate

Inadequate

Requires
Improvement

Inadequate

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Metropolitan
Police (Sept 22)

Not graded

Adequate

Good

Inadequate

Requires
Improvement

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

Adequate

Good

Good

Adequate

Inadequate

Good

Good

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

N/A

Not graded

Requires
Improvement

Good

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate

Good

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Outstanding

N/A

Not graded

Good

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Good

Good

N/A

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Adequate

Requires
Improvement

Not graded

Not graded

Not graded

Adequate

Adequate

N/A

Northumbria       
Not graded
(Sept 22)
Lancashire
Not graded
(Oct 22)
Norfolk  
(Oct 22)
Essex    
(Oct 22)
Warwicks   
(Oct 22)

Not graded

Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement

Adequate

Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement

I am delighted to report that Durham performance as judged by HMICRFS Peel inspection
is still amongst the best overall results in the country achieving 8 Good and 2 Outstanding
judgements including value for money. I am encouraged by the work I have seen the force
undertake around each element of the PEEL inspection, with the aim to continually improve
their performance across all of the areas listed.
Page 45
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

31

DECISION RECORDS REPORT
In September the OPCC held an internal Commissioning Board during which the following
decisions were made.

COMMISSIONING BOARD DECISIONS
The following decisions were taken at the Commissioning Board held on 29th September 2022,

32

•

Modern Slavery Conference (£1,750 to £2,020).

•

Darlington NPT Rural (£4,524): Signage to defer rural damage and equipment to be
managed by Darlington Rural Watch (match funded by Darlington Borough Council,
Darlington Rural Watch, Local MP and National Farmers Union).

•

Operation Endurance (£10,000) to address offroad bikes.

•

CCTV System at Trimdon Community Centre (£2,000).

•

Station Town (£5,000) towards the capital cost of building a Pump Track for young people to
ride bikes.

•

Anti-Racism Workshops (£20,000): Show Racism the Red Card

•

World Cup/Christmas Campaign (£7,900): Purpose of the campaign is to encourage
perpetrators of abuse or those worried about their behaviour to access support from
Harbour’s behaviour changes program.

•

Safer Roads (£21,500 presented at a previous board). Speedwatch van with agreement the
force will cover the running costs for the 3-year period. This will be managed and located
within Newton Aycliffe Police Station. Match funding to be agreed. PCC agreed funding
subject to GAMP Council providing matched funding.

•

Sextortion Campaign (£400) on social media (linked to a POP plan). The OPCC is linking with
the Durham Constabulary Harmful Sexual Behaviour Campaign.

Page 46
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

33

Page 47
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

34

Durham Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office
Police Headquarters, Aykley Heads
Durham DH1 5TT
Call: 0191 375 2001
Email: general.enquiries@durham-pcc.gov.uk
@durhampcc

Durham Police and Crime Commissioner

Page 48
Durham Police & Crime Commissioner’s | PERFORMANCE REPORT | Q1 & Q2 22/23

Agenda Item 6

Report to Police & Crime Panel
Report of Durham Police and Crime
Commissioner
Report on Investigative Hub
4th November 2022

1.
1.1

Purpose of Report
To provide a chronology of the formal decision making in relation to progression of the
Investigative Hub and to provide information in relation to several queries presented to
the PCC by the panel.

2.
2.1

Background
Custody remains a key operational function of the Constabulary with particularly
complex and onerous responsibilities in relation to detainees. Several legal liabilities
apply beyond normal areas of the estate alongside Home Office (HO) guidance and
scrutiny via His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services
(HMICFRS).
Detailed review of Custody provision within the force estate commenced in 2008 when
a Treasury Green Book exercise identified that best value would be obtained through
provision of a new facility in terms of whole life costs and wider estate and operational
risks. HM Government’s subsequent Comprehensive Spending Review in the wake of
the global financial recession however made this a largely unaffordable option to the
force.
As a result, refurbishments occurred within the existing estate at Peterlee (2009),
Darlington (2010), and Bishop Auckland (in 2011 and 2018). Desktop feasibility and
option appraisal for a long-term solution continued alongside the efforts to keep the
custody estate operational through regular refurbishment.
In 2019 HMICFRS and His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Prisons (HMIP) highlighted an
urgent need for a major upgrade of the Force’s custody suites to bring them up to
modern-day standards. In addition, the HO issued new design guidance in September
2019 with prescriptive design recommendations to improve standards relating to
equality, security, privacy, and dignity.
A complete refurbishment of the existing custody facilities would be a significant
undertaking which would be much more expensive than a new custody build. In
addition, due to site limitations any refurbishment would still not mitigate the risks that
exist or provide value for money for the taxpayer. It would not be possible to achieve
HO guidance through refurbishment. This is explained in more detail within Appendix
1.

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

Page 49

2.6

2.7

2.8
2.9
2.10
2.11

2.12

2.13

3.
3.1

Approval to award a contract to build a new centralised custody facility was granted by
the PCC in November 2021 which followed several reports, presentations and site visits
amounting to a detailed business case for the proposal. This followed a substantial
consultation programme with local politicians conducted by the PCC’s office.
The new facility will provide a safer environment for our staff and officers to work in
and will enable them to book multiple detainees in at once, reducing waiting times for
our officers and allowing them to get back out on the streets quickly.
The improved welfare of and reduced risk to staff and officers working in custody is a
big factor in the PCC’s decision to support the new centralised custody facility.
Reducing the risks of detainees harming themselves and the risks of a death in custody
are significant factors in the decision to approve the new custody facility.
The facility will also be specifically designed to be more accessible for detainees, many
of whom are vulnerable, and will significantly improve their welfare while in police care.
The facility will reduce the time police officers spend waiting with and watching
detainees with severe mental needs because of the creation of appropriate secure
provision enabling observation of the detainees, allowing the officers to return to their
duties.
The facility will also enable centralisation of other functions that must meet
International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) accreditation standards and this
facility creates an opportunity to be compliant, securing evidence as well as
streamlining processes.
The local contractor Tilbury Douglas is delivering on its social value commitments,
including the recruitment of apprentices, facilitation of student work placements and
training opportunities, working with a local charity Changing Lives to support vulnerable
people find work, spending an estimated £7.7m with small to medium enterprises
(£1.9m locally). Working with Tilbury, Durham is the first public sector organisations to
use the new Construction Value Toolkit which is a government led scheme to drive
better social, environmental and economic outcomes from major projects. This project
is leading to significant investment in the local economy.
Chronology of Decision Making
As explained above, various feasibility exercises and option appraisals in relation to the
custody estate were undertaken between 2008 and 2018. After the HMICFRS
inspection, the option to develop a new facility was proposed to the PCC and then
formally reported as below:
Date
Exec Board
November
2019
Exec Board
January 2020

Exec Board
June 2020

Page 50

Content
Presented risks and issues within existing estate and sought approval
to undertake feasibility exercise for a centralised facility with
external specialised consultancy working with estate, IT and Custody
staff.
Update provided to confirm that Turner & Townsend appointed to
lead consultancy in line with the Royal Institute of British Architects
(RIBA) standardised Plan of Work. Report confirmed that a site
search for potential locations was in progress.
Approval sought for sign off RIBA stage 2 (concept design) and
progression to stage 3 (developed design to include planning

Date

Content
application). This report confirmed a 48-cell radial design had been
developed and detailed cost reports were provided. At this stage
development of a facility to include wider uses such as investigative
functions, CSI and Property Storage was recommended.
Exec Board
At the June 2020 Exec Board, the Acting PCC requested time to give
July 2020
further consideration of the stage 2 report and to seek independent
advice before progression to RIBA stage 3. Queries received from the
PCC to the CC were responded to. Following this, the Temporary
Chief of Staff provided a report to the July 2020 Exec Board
recommending progression to RIBA stage 3.
Exec Board
A status update was provided to the Exec Board advising that Stage
October 2020 3 remained in progress. At the same time a report was presented
setting out details of the site search and proposing terms for
acquisition of a preferred site at a rate per acre subject to planning
permission.
Exec Board
A status update was provided to the Exec Board advising that Stage
January 2021 3 remained in progress with a planning application submitted in
December 2020.
Exec Board
Approval sought for sign off RIBA stage 3 (concept design) and
February
progression to stage 4 (technical design to include tendering).
2021
Detailed cost reports provided and confirmation of HO design review
by National Police Estates Group custody leads.
New PCC
Following the elected PCC taking Office in May 2021, a briefing
Briefing
session was provided setting out the case history and rationale in
Session July
relation to project. The PCC visited several custody facilities outside
2021
of the force area to become familiar with best practice and learn
from the experiences of other police forces. The PCC visited all force
custody suites, met with staff and shadowed shifts to directly
experience the current custody environment and challenges faced
by the teams on a daily basis, all to assist in decision making.
Public
Public questions in relation to the Custody Project answered and
Accountability recorded on YouTube Public Accountability Meeting 26-08-21 - YouTube
Session 26th
August 2021
Decision
The Police & Crime Commissioner made the formal decision to
Record 27th
approve the Centralised Custody & Investigations Suite as the most
August 2021
appropriate custody option for Durham Constabulary, following
visits to all existing custody suites across the region, meetings with
MPs, councillors, local partners and the public accountability
meeting on 26th August 2021.
Exec Board
Report recommending contract award following tendering process.
November
Details of submissions and analysis provided.
2021
Exec Board
Report providing status update and confirmation that construction
March 2022
started on site 17th January 2022.

Page 51

Date
Exec Board
June 2022

Exec Board
Sept 2022

Content
Update provided in relation to works on site confirming excavation
and piling complete and foundations in progress. Potential delay
highlighted advising completion Summer 2023 as opposed to Spring
2023.
Update provided in relation to works on site confirming precast
concrete sections being installed forming the custody wings.

3.2

It should also be noted that between July and December 2020 the PCC’s office
undertook several political and stakeholder engagement and consultation sessions in
relation to the project. The planning process between December 2020 and June 2021
also provided a statutory consultation period open to all members of the public.

4.
4.1

Public Accountability Questions
The questions posed by the public and answered by Constabulary representatives at the
Public Accountability meeting held on 26th August 2021 are set out below.


Why can’t the existing custody estate be remodelled/refurbished instead of building a new
facility?

The HO guidance sets out a wide range of supporting investigative facilities alongside
cells. The charge desk also needs sight lines down cell wings, discreet booking in
facilities, and high natural daylight levels. The guidance also recommends a van dock.
These recommendations require a substantial space footprint, and our existing sites
simply cannot accommodate a layout to meet the standard of facilities expected. We
have examined this option before undertaking a feasibility to adapt Spennymoor police
station in 2018. This is one of our newest stations with an adjacent plot of land within
PCC ownership available for extension. The feasibility demonstrated that there was
insufficient space to provide a HO compliant facility. Cost comparison also showed that
it was cheaper to build new than try to renovate existing. Other forces have also
confirmed similar findings.


Prior to DurhamGate, were any other potential sites explored?

A site of around 4 acres is required. Opportunities to use the existing estate were
initially considered but site limitations prevented this. One option was to build the
facility at Aykley Heads on existing PCC owned land however this did not meet location
criteria. The County Council were also contacted to understand the local plan and
identify where the facility may be located in planning terms. Other sites reviewed
included Meadowfield and Bowburn. Land at Meadowfield was not available for the
proposed use and land at Bowburn was much higher than the value of DurhamGate
with poorer public transport facilities. Hence, DurhamGate was selected as the
preferred location.


Page 52

If the project proceeds, will any contractor be asked to commit to social value benefits as
part of their bid?

Yes. We intend to request the bidding contractors to commit to working with the PCC
in relation to the national Social Value Measurement Framework which includes
initiatives such as use of local suppliers and employment of apprentices. In addition, we
are the first public sector organisation to have trialled the new Construction Value
Toolkit which is a government led scheme to drive better social, environmental, and
economic outcomes from major projects. We will also be asking contractors to commit
to working with us in that too.


I am concerned about lost time of Police Officers transporting people from where they've
been arrested to the custody suite, the lost time of investigating officers going from their
base to the custody suite. What will be done to minimise officers' time travelling to & from
Spennymoor?

The investigative hub will allow for a much more effective and efficient custody process
than the current facilities allow us to do. The custody process can be quite lengthy and
frequently involves multiple legal consultations (both in person and by phone).
Additionally, because many detainees experience problematic drug issues or have
mental health issues, we need to ensure that these are addressed before interviews,
should we not do this any evidenced gained in an interview may become invalid, letting
the victim down. Between these consultations and assessments detainees are returned
to their cell.
The provision of all cells with cctv (and critically also a dedicated location to watch
them), having medical professionals on site 24/7, alongside dedicated facilities for
mental health assessment will dramatically lessen the need for officers to remain
outside cells…waiting for a medical professional to arrive or watching detainees whom
we have elevated concerns about, but have no other means to observe them. As part
of the investigative hub project work has indeed taken place to identify these blockages
and numerous examples have been identified.
One such example took place at Durham Custody on Saturday 6th June where a
detainee had been arrested and in the process of this had also been Tasered. The taser
barbs need to be removed by a medical professional and in order to prevent the
detainee from ripping them out and causing harm officers needed to watch him until a
medical professional arrived; this took 1 hour and 29 minutes, time otherwise they
could have been on patrol and responding to public calls.


Improved custody facilities are required in County Durham. However, I am concerned about
lost time of Police Officers transporting people from where they've been arrested to the
custody suite, the lost time of investigating officers going from their base to the custody
suite. What will be done to minimise officers' time travelling to & from Spennymoor? I'm
also concerned about people being released from custody & returning to their homes. Many
years ago, I was arrested and following an investigation I was released without charge at
4am. Without public transport or means for a taxi I walked a couple of miles home. If there
had been a central custody suite then, it would've been at least a four-hour walk. What
provisions will be put in place to ensure that when people are released, they are able to
travel safely home?

Page 53

The time involved in the transportation of detainees from their place of arrest to the
investigative hub is clearly something that we have considered. There is absolutely an
increase in mileage travelled in some instances, however due to its location the actual
time spent travelling is often less. An example of this would be that Durham city centre
is frequently congested and to get to the custody suite from the north involves crossing
the river twice. The investigative hub is adjacent to main arterial road networks, with
good access to the A1M and the wider location in general doesn’t experience the
congestion of a city centre.
The issue is wider than this however and in many cases, it will be less travelling time
than currently. Detainees are not always taken to the closest suite due to capacity
currently. The new facility will be more efficient than existing suites due to increased
capacity and better facilities so officers will be released back to the frontline quicker.
There will be less waiting to book detainees in, less officers required for constant
observations of vulnerable detainees because there will be alternative ways to do this
using technology, and less requirement for attending hospital for minor medical
concerns, which currently accounts for a lot of wasted time for officers. The flow of
processing prisoners will also be better due to the increased capacity of the new facility.
We have a duty of care to those who are in our custody, and this extends into the
manner in which we allow them to leave. Every detainee who leaves our care is subject
to a thorough exit risk assessment and how those detainees reach home is part of that
assessment.
The investigative hub is adjacent to one of the main north south routes in the county,
enabling travel to Durham and Darlington by bus, connecting to wider services such as
the Easington and Derwentside areas from those locations. The location also sees
frequent bus services to Bishop Auckland from where wider services to the west of the
county can be accessed. Service levels obviously differ over weekends however, it is
still an effective one. Throughout the night, services are minimal, however whilst
detainees are occasionally released during the night this is far from the norm. A range
of options exist to get people home from the investigative hub and depending on the
circumstances this may involve waiting until bus services resume.


With already stretched resources, is it practicable and most effective to have two officers in
Seaham, or Middleton Teasdale leaving their beat area to transfer a prisoner to
Spennymoor. Furthermore, if this is an absolute necessity, why choose a location that has
no Magistrates Court nearby? This creates a need for further prisoner transfer at a cost to
the taxpayer.

With a centrally located custody facility there will be some areas from which officers
will have further to travel with detainees, however officers from other areas will in turn
find the new facility is closer than their previous custody options. The current reality is
that detainees are not always taken to the closest existing custody facility.
The company that transfers detainees to Court is located next to the new custody
facility so they will now be able to transfer them to Court directly rather than having to
travel to all three custody facilities with the detainees from the first and second on

Page 54

board while they go to the third. This will not only save taxpayers’ money, but it will
also make the transfer quicker and reduce the travelling time spent for the detainees.
The two Magistrates Courts currently used for remand and warrant detainees are
located at Newton Aycliffe and Peterlee, with the majority of cases heard at Newton
Aycliffe. The new custody facility is closer to Newton Aycliffe than any of the existing
custody facilities, with travel time savings to Newton Aycliffe ranging from 4 minutes
from Darlington to 19 minutes from Peterlee. Peterlee Magistrates Court is attached to
Peterlee Police Station so this will be the greatest travel time increase from the new
facility, however Peterlee only hears cases on Fridays and it is also considerably further
from Darlington custody than the new facility, at 18 minutes further in travel time .


I object to the building of a centralised custody suite simply because I believe it will dilute
police cover where it is required most. The existing custody suites are in locations where
they are most needed. With regard to current capacity, I can understand that there are
times when arrests peak and current resources struggle to cope but surely these peak times
are limited to a few hours in a week. Does that really warrant officers from, for example,
Darlington bringing a shoplifter many miles during daytime in a time-consuming process and
at the same time reducing police cover in a town that needs it?

Many offences or crimes are investigated without anyone having to be arrested, this is
called Voluntary Attendance (VA), whereby a suspect is interviewed, fingerprinted etc
and then required to attend court, all without ever being placed in a cell. A case
involving a straightforward shoplifting offence with no aggravating factors would
certainly fall into the remit for a VA.
All of the custody suites that will be closing will still be left with fully functional interview
and biometric rooms along with administrative facilities which will allow officers to
investigate potential offenders. This has been the case at many stations for several
years. Consett, Stanley, Seaham, Chester le Street, and others all have interview rooms
without the need for cell facilities.


How much police time would be spent transporting prisoners to the centre from areas such
as Consett, Stanley or other towns or villages on the borders of other counties/cities? Is this
task contracted out?

Travel times have been examined. Based on 2019 arrest numbers calculated for current
evening rush hour traffic using Google maps, travel times calculations for Consett,
Stanley and Barnard Castle indicate the difference in time between the custody facility
that detainees were taken to after arrest in comparison to taking them to the new
facility. It is important to note that the specific locations of arrest are not available so
these calculations are based on a central point of the police station within that
community so might not accurately reflect the true travel times because the arrest
location could be anywhere within that parish area.
Arrests within Consett area

Page 55

In 2019 90.2% or 490 of all detainees arrested in the Consett area were taken to Durham
City custody. If they were taken to the new facility this would take approximately 25
hours extra per year in travelling time. This is less than half an hour per week.
In a recent case a detainee arrested in Consett was taken to Durham City custody and
officers had to wait half an hour before being able to book the detainee in. Officers have
recently had to wait up to 46 minutes from arriving at Durham City custody before being
able to book the detainee in.
Arrests within Stanley area
In 2019 60.2% or 317 of all detainees arrested in the Stanley area were taken to Durham
City custody. If they were taken to the new facility this would take approximately 16
hours extra per year in travelling time. This is just over 18 minutes per week.
Officers taking detainees from Stanley to Durham custody have recently had to wait up
to 46 minutes after arriving at Durham City custody before being able to book their
detainee in. This is a regular occurrence.
In 2019 37.8% or 199 of all detainees arrested in the Stanley area were taken to Peterlee
custody. If they were taken to the new facility this would take approximately 13 hours
fewer per year in travelling time. This is 15 minutes per week.
Arrests within Barnard Castle area
In 2019 48.1% or 39 of all detainees arrested in the Barnard Castle area were taken to
Bishop Auckland custody. If they were taken to the new facility this would take
approximately 9 hours extra per year. This is just over ten minutes per week. Officers
taking their detainees to Bishop Auckland custody have recently had to wait up to an
hour before they can book their detainee in. In 2019 49.4 or 40 of all detainees arrested
in the Barnard Castle area were taken to Darlington custody. If they were taken to the
new facility this would take approximately 6 hours extra per year. This is just under 7
minutes per week.
The new facility will be far more efficient than the existing custody facilities and
therefore travelling time is not the only relevant consideration, often officers will spend
considerable lengths of time waiting outside custody facilities to book their detainees
in. The efficiencies of the new facility will offset the small extra travelling times seen for
these outlying areas. This task is not contracted out.


I think this will save officers and support staff time. Has a time and motion study been done
into time wasted by officers queuing at the current custody suites? Or watching prisoners
1-1 as not all cells have cameras? Are there expected time and cost savings by civilians being
centralized to interview etc saving officer time to be dealing with calls from the public backin
their own area?

The investigative hub will allow for a much more effective and efficient custody process
than the current facilities allow. The custody process can be quite lengthy and
frequently involves multiple legal consultations (both in person and by phone).
Additionally, because many detainees experience problematic drug issues or have
mental health issues, we need to ensure that these are addressed before interviews.
Should we not do this any evidenced gained in an interview may become invalid, letting

Page 56

the victim down. Between these consultations and assessments detainees are returned
to their cell.
The provision of all cells with CCTV (and critically also a dedicated location to watch
them), having medical professionals on site 24/7, alongside dedicated facilities for
mental health assessment will dramatically lessen the need for officers to remain
outside cells (such as when waiting for a medical professional to arrive or watching
detainees whom we have elevated concerns about, but have no other means to observe
them). As part of the investigative hub project work has indeed taken place to identify
these blockages and numerous examples have been identified.
One such example took place at Durham Custody on Saturday 6th June where a
detainee had been arrested and in the process of this had also been Tasered. The taser
barbs need to be removed by a medical professional and in order to prevent the
detainee from ripping them out and causing harm officers needed to watch him until a
medical professional arrived. This took 1 hour and 29 minutes, time otherwise they
could have been on patrol and responding to public calls.


Why is it necessary to close the custody suite at Peterlee police station when it is barely 20
years old and still very much fit for purpose? The move to Spennymoor would be disastrous
for Peterlee taking officers away for far too long.

The existing facility at Peterlee has not met the standards on HMICFRS inspection and
cannot be adapted to meet the new HO guidance. It is therefore not fit for purpose for
ongoing detention. The facility will however be retained for use to interview voluntary
attenders and for staff training. The wider police station will remain fully operational.
At present officer’s transport detainees around the county to the three operational
custody suites and this may not always be the closest one. For example, persons
arrested in Stanley may be routinely transported to either Durham or Peterlee custody,
and in extreme circumstances to Darlington.
Travel distance and time is only one part of the equation, however. We regularly have
officers queuing at our existing stations in the station yard. These queues are related to
the inefficiencies of the existing facilities, bottlenecks, limited space, limited
consultation rooms and the like.
Even once booked into detention the lack of constant medical care at any of our existing
stations means that the arresting officers are required to stay with the detainee until
either a medical professional arrives, or if deemed more serious they are transported
to hospital. The proposed investigative hub will alleviate these issues, with medical staff
being based at the hub on a 24/7 basis. With both dedicated medical surgeries and
dedicated mental health rooms, the need for officers to remain ‘watching the detainee’
will be removed.
So, whilst there is in some circumstances an increased distance to travel for officers, the
new building’s layout and functionality will allow officers to be released from custody
more efficiently than they are currently.


Are we getting extra officers to be on duty to cover for those who will be transporting
people to Spennymoor or will we be even more stretched than now?

Page 57

As stated above, at present officers transport detainees around the county to the three
operational custody suites and this may not always be the closest one. For example,
persons arrested in Stanley may be routinely transported to either Durham or Peterlee
custody, or in extreme circumstances to Darlington. Whilst there is in some
circumstances an increased distance to travel for officers, the new facility will allow
officers to be released from custody more efficiently than they are currently. There will
be no additional officers directly as a result of this project, however there has been a
recent national uplift in officer recruitment.


As a resident of Durham Gate, I would like to know what plans are in place for the release
of prisoners. Having been a police officer for 30years I am unconvinced that all arrested
persons will be transported home after their stay. I am concerned that if simply allowed out
of the building to make their own way home, there would be a natural route through
Durham Gate to the 24hr retail food outlets and therefore make residents vulnerable to
crime/ASB?

The Police have a duty of care to detainees that extends beyond their period in custody.
Some detainees are not released from custody and are instead transported direct to
prison or more frequently court.
For those that are released, be that on bail or under investigation all of them are subject
to a thorough risk assessment process prior to their release. This takes into account
numerous issues such as, but not limited to the offence involved, the victim, their
vulnerability, their age, their clothing, the weather, the time and where they live.
There is no evidence that detainees released from custody involve themselves in crime
or ASB following their release from existing custody suites. Indeed all current sites are
relatively close to housing, more than the proposed investigative hub at Durhamgate.


When it is reported in the News about arrests of a gang, we often hear that those detained
will be held at separate locations to prevent them colluding. Also, when two gangs have
been fighting surely having them in one location opens up the possibility of two members
of different gangs coming across each other (despite the police's best effort to avoid this
kind of situation) and continuing the violence. In these two situations, will a centralised
custody suite be a backward step?

This is a good practical question and the circumstances where we may arrest multiple
persons in relation to one incident are certainly something that we come across fairly
frequently.
Upon arrival at the proposed investigative hub there are two entrances, both lead to
two holding cells (4 in total) where detainees can be safely detained prior to booking in,
preventing any awareness of each other’s presence or the potential for discussion.
Booking in can then take place at any of seven charge desks, one of which is wholly
discrete from the others, again preventing opportunities for discussion.
The facility has 48 cells spread across 4 wings, each of which is separate from the others.
Once booked in detainees can again be safely detained wholly apart from each other.
These opportunities to keep detainees who are ‘connected’ apart from one another
extends to the interview rooms, exercise yards and biometric and medical rooms. This

Page 58

last point is really important as preventing the cross contamination of forensic evidence
is critical.


How will the impact of increased response times be mitigated (officers having to travel
further afield to transport clients to custody -leaves them unavailable for emergency
responses for greater periods). Having grown up in a domestically abusive household in
Lincolnshire, and having felt the impact of having to wait over 50 minutes for your nearest
999 -blue light emergency response to get to you whilst you're a child being attacked by an
adult, I can tell you it is an absolutely horrific situation to be in. Is this move to a central
custody suite likely to put more of the people you are here to protect at greater risk, not to
mention add increased pressure to your staff?

The time involved in the transportation of detainees from their place of arrest to the
investigative hub is clearly something that we have considered. There is absolutely an
increase in mileage travelled in some instances, however due to its location the actual
time spent travelling is often less. An example of this would be that Durham city centre
is frequently congested and to get to the custody suite from the north involves crossing
the river twice. The investigative hub is adjacent to main arterial road networks, with
good access to the A1M and the wider location in general doesn’t experience the
congestion of a city centre.
The issue is wider than this however as in many cases it will be less travelling time than
currently experienced. Detainees are not always taken to the closest suite due to
capacity. The new facility will be more efficient than existing suites due to increased
capacity and better booking in arrangements so officers will be released back to the
frontline quicker. There will be less waiting to book detainees in and less officers
required for constant observations of vulnerable detainees. This building will be in place
for years to come and has been future-proofed it as much as is practicable within Home
Office guidelines. Technological solutions have been included taking advantage of new
IT platforms that are and will be developed. Once detainees are booked in the officers
will be released and able to travel back to their normal patrol area or their station. The
documentation that officers complete following an arrest, such as statements and
handover packages can be completed remotely. There will be less requirement for
attending hospital for minor medical concerns, which currently accounts for a lot of
wasted time for officers, because we will have dedicated medical provision permanently
on site. As already discussed, the flow of processing prisoners will be significantly
improved due to the increased capacity of the new facility.


What will happen to old sites - Peterlee , Bishop etc will they be mothballed - will there still
be access to officers at these sites - Will there be any access to community engagement
activities like bicycle marking .. Are we losing more valuable stat services?

The opening of the investigative hub will not see any local withdrawal. Indeed, officers
at Bishop, Durham, Darlington, and Peterlee stations will still require facilities where
they can undertake voluntary interviews to aid their investigations. In order to allow for
this the interview rooms, biometric and administrative facilities will remain functional
within these localities It is only the facilities such as cells, showers, exercise yards and

Page 59

detainees’ kitchens that will be closed down. The removal of these facilities will not
have any impact on the provision of wider policing or associated activities such as
bicycle marking.


Do the staff working from present custody suites favour this proposal and think this is the
correct thing to do?

Staff currently working in our existing custody suites have been involved in the design
process at various points. Generally this has taken the form of working groups and
consultation sessions. Specifically, they have been consulted on the facilities that they
would wish to see in the proposed facility considering what works in the current
facilities and what doesn’t. These discussions have included not only the Police officers
and Police staff but also those other professionals who work alongside us, including our
medical professionals. Overwhelmingly they have welcomed the proposals to replace
their current working facilities with one that that is clean and efficient, safe to work in
and which in turn allows them to carry out their role more effectively in a pleasant
environment.


What will be the contingency plan if there is ever a reason for temporary closure of the
centralised custody?

The investigative hub has been designed to be resilient. From a custody perspective it
operates on four wings of 12 cells each. Each is operated and functions separately in
terms of heating, ventilation, and associated features. It is entirely possible to close 1
or 2 wings of the facility whilst operating the others, though it would of course be busier
in those areas. Back up generators exist and will provide an uninterruptable power
supply if and when required. Should however a seriously catastrophic issue occur then
it will be wholly practicable to utilise Peterlee custody suite which in effect will be
mothballed from a custody cell perspective (although as already outlined it will still be
in use for interview purposes).


There are frequent occasions when two officers are required to supervise vulnerable
detainees or escort them to hospital. How will this be mitigated to get more officers on the
street?

The new custody facility will be equipped with CCTV cameras in all cells and a dedicated
member of staff will monitor and react to any issues. This allows for a few persons to
be monitored safely at once by one individual. This will reduce the number of Police
Officers required to provide close supervision within custody, freeing them up to be
back on the frontline. The new facility will also have 24/7 medical provision at a level
that can administer medication, treat minor wounds and take samples. They will also
be able to attend to injured officers. Having this provision in one central location will
reduce the necessity for officers to take detainees requiring medical attention to
hospital. This is the current requirement when there is no medical provision available
at the custody facility they are at because currently the medical provision is shared
between the existing sites. This will also cut down on time spent waiting to be seen at
hospital, which we all know can be lengthy. Police officers do not have priority at
hospital just because we are attending with a detained person.

Page 60

5.
5.1

5.2

6.
6.1

Proposal
It is demonstrated above that there has been consistent internal governance and
accountability relating to the custody project with sound estate and operational reasons
for progression. RIBA stages have not been commissioned without PCC approval and
without provision of detailed cost, risk and programme reporting.
The public interest has been considered throughout with consideration given to the
benefits of centralisation of certain functions (to include operational and economic
efficiency), leaving key policing resources in existing communities regardless of the
impact of the project. The project also presents the best solution in terms of building
related legislation compliance and guidance in respect of custody.
Recommendation
It is recommended that the contents of the report are considered.
Joy Allen

Risks and Implications
Finance
As outlined in the report.
Staffing
n/a
Equality and Diversity
n/a
Accommodation
n/a
Crime and Disorder
n/a
Children's Act 2004
n/a
Stakeholder/Community Engagement
n/a
Environment
n/a
Collaboration and Partnerships
n/a
Value for Money and Productivity
n/a
Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
n/a
Commissioning
n/a
Other risks

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – Why the existing estate cannot meet 2019 HMICFRS recommendations and
HO guidance through refurbishment
HMIC
recommendation

Why cannot
implement

Risk of not
implementing

Consequences of not
implementing

Provision of compliant
anti ligature shower
facilities

Existing layouts
cannot all be modified
to meet reqs – new
drainage, floors etc

Death in custody =
corporate
manslaughter

Criminal prosecution.
Reputational damage.

Compliance with
Equality Act

Cannot modify floor
levels to exercise
yards, shower areas,
cells etc to meet reqs

Non-compliance with
Equality Act is
unlawful. May also be
tied into Human
Rights Act. Public
sector bodies have
higher level of
responsibility.

Remedies available
from claims to court
action. Court action
can result in court
order to comply
together with fines.
Reputational Damage.

Provision of ligature
free wash hand basins
within cells

Existing cells cannot
be modified to meet
reqs – new drainage
and walls etc

This is seen as a
dignity issue. May also
be tied into Human
Rights Act if individual
claims lack of facility is
inhumane.

Remedies available
vary. Reputational
Damage. May be used
by defence if seen as
inhumane.

Bench design within
existing cells presents
ligatures

Cannot retrofit
required Lambeth cell
due to condition and
width of existing cells
– requires new walls
and changes to
layout/width of cells.

Death in custody =
corporate
manslaughter

Criminal prosecution.
Reputational damage.

Poor temperature
control

Custody facilities
within existing ageing
buildings where M&E
end of life. Unable to
modify M&E to
zone/enable separate
custody control
without significant
works

This is seen as a
dignity issue. May also
be tied into Human
Rights Act if individual
claims temperatures
create inhumane
detention conditions.

Remedies available
vary. Reputational
Damage. May be used
by defence if seen as
inhumane.

Page 63

HMIC
recommendation

Why cannot
implement

Risk of not
implementing

Consequences of not
implementing

Unable to meet
natural daylight levels
required

No way to modify
existing cells to
achieve this

This is seen as a
dignity issue. May also
be tied into Human
Rights Act if individual
claims light levels
create inhumane
detention conditions
and affect circadian
rhythms

Remedies available
vary. Reputational
Damage. May be used
by defence if seen as
inhumane.

Grill apertures too
large (creates
ligatures)

Unable to modify as
this will affect
heating/ventilation
system – existing
system will not work
properly with smaller
apertures.

Death in custody =
corporate
manslaughter

Criminal prosecution.
Reputational damage.

The Estate department have advised that compliance with each recommendation is not
possible though simple modification, instead works will involve substantial
demolition/refurbishment to remove and replace internal and external walls, floors, drainage,
and Mechanical and Electrical systems. Costs would be similar to new build but result in a
product that still falls below expected HO/HMICFRS standards due to site limitations (e.g.,
unlikely to be able to increase capacity to accommodate interview: cell ratios).
In addition, note that on next inspection, HMICFRS will no doubt refer to new HO guidance
released September 2019 which highlights further issues & deficiencies to include (but not
limited to):












Page 64

Ratios of cell to ancillary rooms e.g., interview & consultation rooms
Separation/privacy for juveniles
Charge desk configuration
Room sizes and layouts (note recommended layouts and room data sheets are
provided for many custody spaces within the guidance document).
Provision of virtual courts
Provision of forensic search room
Acoustic properties
Sight lines/visibility
Fire management – avoiding dead ends
Light levels
Van docks (only provided at Peterlee)



Telephone cubicles

HMICFRS recommendations and HO guidance obviously do not form legislation. However,
defence may refer to any failing inspection report and/or derogation from guidance to
discredit the organisation in any case. This will be particularly pertinent if there is a death in
custody as a result of any identified failing.

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

